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THE PRAGUE SPRING AND THE
SOVIET INVASION OF
CZECHOSLOVAKIA:

New Interpretations

by Mark Kramer
(Second of two parts)

The first part of this two-part article
provided a brief review of the vast amount
of material that has been released over the
past few years regarding the Prague Spring
and the Soviet invasion of Czechoslovakia
in August 1968.1  The aim of this part is to
offer a preliminary look at some of the new
interpretations that can be derived from the
wealth of fresh evidence, including newly
available materials from East European and
former Soviet archives.

The first question to be asked is whether
the documents and memoirs that have re-
cently become available or soon will be
available are likely to force drastic changes
in the historical record.  Does the new evi-
dence compel Western scholars to rethink
their whole understanding of the Czecho-
slovak crisis?  Will older analyses of the
subject have to be discarded?  Occasionally,
historical disclosures do bring about funda-
mental changes in traditional interpretations
of events.  Such was the case, for example,
with the revelations in the mid-1970s about
the crucial role of code-breaking and signals
intelligence (SIGINT) in the U.S. and Brit-
ish efforts in World War II.2  Military histo-
ries that had failed to take due account of
this factor — which is to say, all histories up
to that point — were suddenly rendered
obsolete, or at least were in need of major
revision.  Will the same hold true for exist-
ing accounts of the 1968 crisis and the
Soviet invasion of Czechoslovakia?

For now, no definitive answer to this
question is possible because not all the evi-
dence is yet in.  In particular, there are still
several key archives in Moscow — the
Presidential Archive, the KGB archives,
and the military archives — with reams of
crucial documents about the crisis that are
still almost wholly untapped.  If these items
are released, they may produce revelations
that will necessitate far-reaching changes in
previous accounts, especially about the pro-
cess of consensus-building in the Soviet
Politburo during the spring and summer of
1968.  A good deal of caution is therefore in
order.  Nevertheless, the evidence that has

emerged up to now suggests that, for the
most part, the best analyses produced by
Western scholars in the pre-glasnost era will
stand up very well.  There are, of course,
innumerable details that have to be revised,
and, as indicated below, details can often be
important.  But except for a few more sweep-
ing changes that may be necessary (as will be
discussed in the final section of this article),
prevailing conceptions of the crisis and of the
Soviet-led invasion have not been greatly
altered thus far by the declassified docu-
ments, new memoirs, and other evidence that
has recently come to light.

The fact that drastic changes have not
been required in the broad historical record is
in part attributable to the insight and meticu-
lous research that Western scholars earlier
brought to bear on the topic.  The events of
1968 attracted some of the best analysts in
the field, and it shows in the quality of their
work.  Another reason that pre-glasnost schol-
arship has stood up well, however, is that
Western observers had access to far more
primary material about the Czechoslovak
crisis than they normally had about key events
in Soviet foreign policy.  Scholars were able
to make good use, for example, of documents
that were brought out of Czechoslovakia
shortly after the invasion.3  They also were
able to draw on the first-hand observations
contained in published interviews with and
commentaries by leading figures in the cri-
sis, such as Josef Smrkovsky, Jiri Hajek, Jiri
Pelikan, and Zdenek Hejzlar.4  Moreover, by
the mid- to late 1970s a growing number of
memoirs by former Czechoslovak officials
were available in the West.  Books by Hajek,
Zdenek Mlynar, and Pelikan, among others,
and accounts by senior Czechoslovak intelli-
gence agents who fled to the West, provided
Western scholars with valuable evidence that
they could not otherwise have hoped to ob-
tain, short of gaining access to Soviet and
East European archives.5  Indeed, to cite but
one example, it is striking how accurate
Smrkovsky’s and Mlynar’s versions of the
Cierna nad Tisou, Bratislava, and Moscow
negotiations proved to be when judged against
actual documents and transcripts from those
meetings.  The same high standards are evi-
dent in retrospective accounts written in the
late 1960s and early 1970s by East European
and Soviet emigres who had served as inter-
preters at one or more of the conferences and
meetings in 1968.6

All these different sources may not have

been a substitute for materials contained in
archives, but, taken cumulatively, they gave
Western scholars a body of evidence incom-
parably richer than the meager details known
about most other Soviet foreign policy deci-
sions.  It is not wholly surprising, then, that
pre-glasnost analyses of the Czechoslovak
crisis have fared remarkably well amidst the
flood of post-Communist revelations.

Still, if it is true that documents released
since 1989 have not undermined our basic
understanding of the Soviet invasion of
Czechoslovakia, it is also true that earlier
treatments of certain key aspects of the crisis
need to be revised to take account of new
evidence.  The revised interpretations of
these matters can help provide a clearer
picture of the crisis as a whole.  Obviously,
the discussion that follows is not intended to
be an exhaustive compilation of changes
necessitated by evidence that has emerged
over the past few years, but it should give a
reasonable idea of the importance that seem-
ingly narrow aspects of the crisis can have
when seen in a new light.  Many other topics
not discussed here—including the influence
of hard-line East European leaders; the role
of prominent officials such as Janos Kadar,
Aleksei Kosygin, and Yurii Andropov; East-
West military and diplomatic relations be-
fore and during the invasion; Soviet/East
European military preparations; Brezhnev’s
contacts with Dubcek; and the post-invasion
talks between the Soviet Union and Czecho-
slovakia—will be covered in other analyses
by the present author scheduled for publica-
tion in the near future.7

1.  The “Letters of Invitation” to Brezhnev

During the latter stages of the 1968
crisis, a small group of hard-line officials in
the Czechoslovak Communist Party (KSC),
led by the Slovak Communist Party chief,
Vasil Bil’ak, did their best to promote Soviet
military intervention, though without being
so overt about the matter (until the invasion
occurred) that they would provoke a back-
lash and charges of treason against them-
selves.  Bil’ak and his two main colleagues,
Alois Indra and Drahomir Kolder, secretly
passed on information to Leonid Brezhnev
and others in the Soviet Politburo, depicting
the situation in the most alarming terms
possible.  They and their allies in the Czecho-
slovak army and state security (StB, for
Statni bezpecnost) organs were the ones who
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Dubcek was handled in an unorthodox man-
ner.  Contrary to normal procedures, the
telegram was not directly addressed to any-
one and was not signed by Zhivkov.  The
coolness of Bulgaria’s response to Dubcek’s
election was conspicuous enough that it even
drew a protest from Soviet diplomats, who
called the Bulgarian actions “hasty and basi-
cally improper” and urged the Bulgarian
authorities “to treat [Dubcek’s] election the
same way we have treated changes of lead-
ership in other fraternal parties.”27

Nevertheless, it seems clear that the
unease felt by Zhivkov and other Bulgarian
officials about Dubcek’s election was not
due to any forebodings of drastic policy
changes to come in Czechoslovakia.  In-
stead, the Bulgarian leader was apparently
discomfited by the manner in which Novotny
was replaced.  Normally, such a step would
have been “recommended” by the KSC Pre-
sidium and then obediently ratified by the
Central Committee; but in late 1967 and
early 1968 the KSC Presidium was dead-
locked.  Consequently, Novotny’s fate was
determined by a vote of the full KSC Central
Committee.  For understandable reasons,
this unusual way of ousting the long-time
KSC First Secretary was disconcerting for
Zhivkov, who had come to power at around
the same time that Novotny did in the early
1950s.  Although some Bulgarian officials
may have had genuine concerns about
Dubcek’s “bourgeois nationalism” (a charge
leveled by Novotny), the real motivation
behind Bulgaria’s less-than-friendly re-
sponse to the events in Czechoslovakia in
early 1968 was undoubtedly Zhivkov’s fear
that a similar leadership change could occur
in Bulgaria.

Hence, the initial Bulgarian response to
Dubcek’s election does not in itself bear out
Mladenov’s claim about “early antagonism.”
Only if Bulgarian officials had continued to
express deep hostility toward the events in
Czechoslovakia during the first few months
of 1968 would Mladenov’s interpretation be
vindicated.  Yet the evidence on this score,
rather than confirming Mladenov’s view,
undercuts it.  The public record shows that
Gomulka was the first East-bloc leader to
declare, in a lengthy speech on 19 March,
that “imperialist reaction and enemies of
socialism” were behind the Prague Spring.28

No comparable public statements from
Zhivkov appeared until several months later,
in mid-July.29  The tightly-controlled Bul-

garian press, in fact, was notable for its
favorable coverage of Dubcek and the Pra-
gue Spring during the first half of 1968.
Bulgarian leaders eschewed polemics long
after scathing commentaries had begun ap-
pearing regularly in the media of both Po-
land and East Germany.30

The belatedness of Bulgaria’s “antago-
nism” toward the Prague Spring is also evi-
dent in newly declassified materials from
former Soviet and East European archives.
During the first few months of 1968, Bulgar-
ian officials voiced almost no misgivings at
all about the reforms in Czechoslovakia; and
the one or two complaints they did have
were muted.31  Not until April and May did
Bulgarian assessments of the Prague Spring
take on a somewhat more negative tone.32

Although it might be argued that Bulgaria’s
low-key approach to the Czechoslovak re-
forms during the first few months of 1968
was simply a matter of discretion, new archi-
val materials do not bear this out.  After all,
Bulgarian leaders at the time were never
hesitant about expressing harsh criticism of
events in both Romania and Yugoslavia.33

A similar picture of Bulgarian policy
vis-a-vis Czechoslovakia emerges from the
once-secret transcripts and summaries of the
multilateral East-bloc conferences at Dresden
and Moscow in the spring of 1968.  These
documents confirm that Gomulka and
Ulbricht, not Zhivkov, led the way in oppos-
ing the Czechoslovak reforms.  At the
Dresden conference in late March, which
Zhivkov did not attend because of a schedul-
ing conflict, Gomulka and Ulbricht vehe-
mently depicted the events in Czechoslova-
kia as outright “counterrevolution.”34  No
one else at the conference, not even Bil’ak,
was yet ready to go that far.  Certainly there
is no evidence that Zhivkov’s representa-
tives at the conference joined—much less
preceded—Gomulka and Ulbricht in por-
traying the situation in such dire terms.  On
the contrary, the Bulgarian participants’ brief
remarks at the Dresden conference seemed
moderate compared to the harsh statements
made by their East German, Polish, and even
Soviet colleagues.  Much the same was true
of the Moscow conference in early May,
where Ulbricht and Gomulka stepped up
their previous denunciations of the “coun-
terrevolution” in Czechoslovakia and de-
manded that immediate action be taken.35

Zhivkov, by contrast, was still not willing to
resort to such strident language, despite the

misgivings he was feeling by that time.  His
scattered comments at the meeting were
notable only for how little they revealed
about his position.

In short, there is no evidence that sub-
stantiates—and much new evidence that con-
travenes—Mladenov’s assertion that
Zhivkov was out in front of all his Warsaw
Pact colleagues in advocating the use of
military force against Czechoslovakia.

At the same time, evidence that has
recently come to light suggesting that
Zhivkov did begin shifting to a hard-line
position earlier than most Western scholars
had assumed.  In late May 1968, two weeks
after the conference in Moscow, Zhivkov
transmitted a secret “Report Concerning the
Situation in Czechoslovakia” and an “infor-
mation bulletin” on the same topic to the
Soviet ambassador in Sofia, A. M. Puzanov.36

The report and the bulletin were prepared by
the Bulgarian Ministry of Defense and the
Bulgarian State Security forces, respectively,
and both items received Zhivkov’s official
endorsement.  The two documents expressed
strong opposition to the reforms in Czecho-
slovakia, often in crudely anti-Semitic terms,
and adverted several times to the possible
need for military intervention.  To be sure,
except for the anti-Semitic remarks, the tone
of the two reports was not as hysterical as
some of the statements that Ulbricht and
Gomulka had been making; among other
things, Bulgarian officials still expressed
confidence that “healthy forces” (i.e., ortho-
dox Communists) could prevail in Czecho-
slovakia.  Moreover, unlike the strident criti-
cisms voiced by East German and Polish
leaders, neither of the Bulgarian documents
was intended for public consumption.  Nev-
ertheless, anyone in Moscow who read the
materials would have had little doubt that as
of May, Zhivkov had become decidedly
hostile to the Prague Spring and to Dubcek
personally.

By the time of the Warsaw conference
several weeks later, Zhivkov had aligned
himself unambiguously with the extreme
Ulbricht-Gomulka point of view.37  Even
then, however, the Bulgarian leader was not
as vitriolic or obsessive in his condemna-
tions of the Prague Spring as either Ulbricht
or Gomulka was.  Moreover, it is unlikely
that Zhivkov’s adoption of an uncompro-
mising stance had any real influence on his
Soviet or East European counterparts.  Judg-
ing from transcripts of the multilateral con-







8 COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN

situation in Czechoslovakia with alarm.
The perception within the KGB that the

Prague Spring was a threat to both the exter-
nal and internal security of the Soviet Union
helps explain why several high-ranking of-
ficials in the agency were among the earliest
and most adamant proponents of military
intervention in Czechoslovakia.63  To be
sure, support for an invasion was by no
means unanimous among senior KGB offi-
cials, as recent evidence has made clear.
Those responsible for foreign operations
tended to be especially hesitant about re-
sorting to military force.64  Nevertheless,
there is little doubt that all top KGB person-
nel were dismayed by the “excesses” of the
Prague Spring, and hoped that the reforms
could be halted and reversed.  Even officials
reluctant to go along with an invasion began
to lose patience when Pavel continued re-
moving pro-Soviet agents in the StB and
Interior Ministry.

Thus, over time, the number of top-
ranking KGB personnel who believed that a
military response would be necessary grew
substantially.  The problem with this trend,
however, is that it compromised the agency’s
role as a source of (relatively) unbiased
information for the highest political au-
thorities.  Once senior officials in the KGB,
including Yurii Andropov, had decided to
press for an invasion, they resorted to the
manipulation and distortion of intelligence
to bolster their case.  In particular, they and
Chervonenko badly misled top Soviet offi-
cials about the support that a post-invasion
regime would command from the Czecho-
slovak population.65  Although a more bal-
anced flow of information would probably
not have changed any minds in the CPSU
Politburo during the final vote on the inva-
sion, accurate reports from the KGB might
have caused Soviet leaders to think more
carefully about the enormous difficulty of
reestablishing political (as opposed to mili-
tary) control.

4.  Military Motivations and Concerns

Western analysts have long suspected
that military-strategic considerations fig-
ured prominently in the Soviet Union’s re-
sponse to the Prague Spring.66  Well before
the 1968 crisis, Soviet military command-
ers had believed that the lack of a permanent
Soviet troop presence in Czechoslovakia (in
contrast to the large deployments in East

Germany, Poland, and Hungary) seriously
impeded the Warsaw Pact’s military prepa-
rations against NATO.  Soviet requests to
station a Group of Forces in Czechoslovakia
had been turned down on numerous occa-
sions in the 1950s and 1960s by Gottwald
and Novotny, but Soviet leaders had not
given up their hopes of gaining a permanent
presence on Czechoslovak territory, as the
events of 1968 revealed.  At several points
during the crisis, top-ranking Soviet officers
such as Marshal Ivan Yakubovskii, the com-
mander-in-chief of the Warsaw Pact, urged
the Czechoslovak government to accept the
“temporary” deployment of a Group of So-
viet Forces in Czechoslovakia.67  Officials in
Prague rejected these Soviet demands, but
Western analysts have long maintained that
Moscow’s desire to gain a large-scale troop
presence contributed to the Soviet High
Command’s implicit and explicit support for
armed intervention.68  As it turned out, of
course, the invasion did result in the estab-
lishment of a “Central Group of Soviet
Forces” numbering some 75,000-80,000 sol-
diers, which remained on Czechoslovak soil
until July 1991.

What has become clearer over the last
few years, however, is that the primary issue
for the Soviet military in 1968 was not sim-
ply whether the Czechoslovak government
would agree to a Soviet troop presence per se
(though that was certainly a key matter in its
own right), but whether the Prague Spring
would disrupt arrangements that had been
secretly codified in the early to mid-1960s
for “joint” nuclear weapons deployments.  In
the late 1950s and early 1960s the Czecho-
slovak, East German, and Polish armed forces
began receiving nuclear-capable aircraft and
surface-to-surface missiles from Moscow.69

Shortly thereafter, the Bulgarian and Hun-
garian armies also obtained nuclear-capable
aircraft and missiles from the Soviet Union;
and even the Romanian military was eventu-
ally supplied with nuclear-capable FROG-7
and Scud-B missiles.  These new East Euro-
pean weapons were officially described as
components of the “Warsaw Pact’s joint
nuclear forces” and used for simulated nuclear
missions during Pact exercises; but Western
analysts have always assumed that nuclear
warheads for the delivery systems remained
under exclusive Soviet control, and that the
delivery vehicles also would have come un-
der direct Soviet command in wartime if they
were equipped with nuclear charges.  Such

an arrangement would have left East Euro-
pean officials with no say at all in the use of
the Pact’s “joint” nuclear arsenal.  As for the
thousands of tactical nuclear weapons that
Soviet forces themselves deployed in Po-
land, East Germany, and Hungary, the lack
of East European input was thought to be
even more conspicuous, as Soviet leaders
rejected all proposals for the establishment
of a “dual-key” system along the lines that
NATO worked out in the mid-1960s.

Evidence that has recently come to light
strongly confirms this earlier speculation
about nuclear command-and-control proce-
dures in the Warsaw Pact.  It is now known
that Moscow secretly arranged in the mid-
1960s to station nuclear warheads under
strict Soviet control on Polish, East German,
and Hungarian territory, where the three
extant Groups of Soviet Forces were already
firmly entrenched.   All the agreements on
this matter were bilateral, but were described
as being “within the framework of the War-
saw Pact.”70  The nuclear warheads were to
be fitted to delivery vehicles belonging to
Soviet troops stationed in the East European
countries; and some of the warheads may
also have been intended for weapons em-
ployed by the local armies under direct So-
viet command.  As in the past, all decisions
on when to “go nuclear” were reserved for
Soviet political and military leaders.71

In the case of Czechoslovakia, how-
ever, the nuclear issue had always seemed
more problematic because no Soviet troops
had been stationed there since 1945.  The
presence of several hundred thousand So-
viet forces in East Germany, Poland, and
Hungary facilitated the closely-guarded de-
ployment of nuclear warheads in those coun-
tries.  If the Soviet Union had been unable to
store nuclear warheads under similar condi-
tions in Czechoslovakia for wartime use, a
serious gap would have been left in the
center of the Warsaw Pact’s nuclear front
line against NATO.  Even if plans had been
made to ship large quantities of nuclear
warheads under Soviet control to Czecho-
slovakia during a crisis, the execution of
such plans would probably have been de-
tected by NATO and might have triggered a
preemptive strike against the Warsaw Pact.
These considerations led a prominent West-
ern analyst, Lawrence Whetten, to conclude
soon after the invasion that “the absence of
Soviet troops” in Czechoslovakia had been
“a glaring weakness in the Pact’s defenses”
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troops to overcome the peaceful resistance
they encountered from ordinary Czechs and
Slovaks, and the large number of serious
accidents and fights that ensued, did not lead
to an “explosion” or to the “massacre” that
some in Prague had feared.

ISSUES NEEDING
FURTHER EXPLORATION

As new archival materials become avail-
able in Moscow and elsewhere, it will be
possible to look in much greater depth at
several issues that remain largely mysteri-
ous even now.  No doubt, some of these
issues cannot be fully resolved because the
requisite documentation either never existed
or has been destroyed.  Unfortunately, some
key materials in the East European archives
appear to be missing or to have been tam-
pered with, and the same is undoubtedly true
on an even larger scale in Russia.97  Never-
theless, as new evidence emerges, Western
scholars should be able to develop a clearer
understanding of at least some of the key
issues listed below.  A more elaborate dis-
cussion of these issues, and the questions
about them that need to be answered, will be
included in other works in preparation by the
present author.98

1.  Consensus-Building in Moscow

Precisely how the CPSU Politburo ar-
rived at a consensus in favor of military
intervention in the spring and summer of
1968 may never be known with certainty.
But if Soviet archives that have been off-
limits up to now are rendered more acces-
sible, Western and Russian scholars should
gain a better understanding of the process.
Among the documents that would be espe-
cially valuable in filling in gaps would be the
transcript of the CPSU Politburo meeting on
15-17 August, the transcript of the CPSU
Central Committee plenum on 9-10 April,
the full transcript of the CPSU Central Com-
mittee plenum on 17 July, the transcripts of
all CPSU Politburo meetings (whether for-
mal or informal) between mid-June and mid-
August, and materials compiled by special
“commissions” of the CPSU Politburo that
were established to deal with the crisis.  Cru-
cial documentation is also likely to exist in
the personal files of leaders such as Brezhnev,
Suslov, Kosygin, and Podgornyi.

In addition to the question of how the

consensus emerged, a related issue of par-
ticular interest is whether anyone on the
CPSU Politburo dissented from the final
decision to intervene.  The fact that a three-
day session of the Politburo was required
before the decision was reached suggests
that at least one or two members, and possi-
bly more, still had serious reservations.  In
his speech to East European Communist
Party leaders just after the conclusion of the
CPSU Politburo’s session, Brezhnev averred
that he and his colleagues had “considered
these questions [about Czechoslovakia] from
all angles” during their three-day meeting
and had made a “profound analysis” of what
should be done.99  This formulation certainly
implies that at least a few members of the
Politburo, at some point, expressed doubts
about the wisdom of the invasion.  Although
Brezhnev went on to say that the Politburo
and Secretariat “unanimously adopted the
decision to lend military assistance to the
healthy forces” in the KSC, the word he used
for “unanimously,” edinodushno, implies
unanimity of spirit and not necessarily una-
nimity of actual voting.  (This ambiguity
would not be present if Brezhnev had used
the word edinoglasno, which also translates
into English as “unanimously.”)  The dis-
tinction is a fine one and it may be reading
too much into what Brezhnev said, but his
speech does not absolutely foreclose the
possibility that dissenting votes were cast.
Only if we can gain access to the full tran-
script of the CPSU Politburo meeting will it
be possible to resolve the issue conclusively.

There is no way to tell, unfortunately,
when the transcript might be released (as-
suming it exists), but in the interim scholars
need not just sit around waiting.  There are
several leads, albeit tenuous ones, that are
well worth exploring.  An important article
in 1989 by Pyotr Rodionov, who was then
first deputy director of the CPSU Central
Committee’s Institute of Marxism-Leninism,
stated that at least one member of the Soviet
Politburo, Gennadii Voronov, had opposed
the decision to intervene, believing it was
“deeply mistaken” and “misguided.”100

Voronov himself subsequently denied that
he had voted against the invasion, and his
denial has to be taken seriously.101  Because
Rodionov argued that Voronov displayed
“great personal bravery” in opposing the
decision, it must have been tempting for
Voronov either to support Rodionov’s claim
(assuming that it is accurate) or just to have

said nothing (if it is inaccurate).  Voronov
had nothing to gain by issuing a denial, apart
from wanting to set the record straight.  Still,
Voronov did acknowledge that he had ex-
pressed certain qualms about the decision—
“Whom was it really so necessary for us to
defend, and from whom?”—in a speech he
gave to the Novosibirsk regional Party com-
mittee shortly after the invasion.102  Closer
examination of Voronov’s role throughout
the crisis is thus very much in order.

2.  The Ukrainian Factor

Western analysts have long appreciated
that the potential for instability in Ukraine
was one of the major factors contributing to
the Soviet decision to invade Czechoslova-
kia.103  But there is much about Ukraine’s
role in the decision, including the extent to
which Ukrainian party chief Petro Shelest
was maneuvering for Brezhnev’s job, that
will remain unclear until the Soviet and
Ukrainian archives are fully opened.  The
Ukrainian government’s declared intention
to release virtually all the records of the
Ukrainian Communist Party is encouraging,
but it remains to be seen how this will work
out in practice.  It also remains to be seen
whether the requisite documents in Mos-
cow, especially items from the personal files
of Shelest, Vladimir Shcherbitskii, and
Brezhnev in the Presidential Archive, will
be made available.

3.  A Nuclear Alert?

Until the late 1980s, Western scholars
and government officials had assumed that
the Soviet Union had never put its nuclear
forces on full combat alert, even during the
Cuban missile crisis.  In late 1989, however,
an excerpt was released from a secret U.S.
intelligence report claiming that Brezhnev
ordered a nuclear alert during the invasion of
Czechoslovakia.104  That claim has since
been endorsed by a leading American spe-
cialist on nuclear command-and-control,
Bruce Blair, in a lengthy book on nuclear
operational procedures.  Blair argues that
the incident in August 1968 was one of
several times that the Soviet Union put its
nuclear forces on combat alert.105  A dissent-
ing view has been expressed, however, by a
retired Soviet general, Ivan Ershov, the
deputy commander of the 1968 invasion.  In
an interview in early 1993, Ershov conceded
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knowledge and approval of the North Ko-
rean plan.12  The brief statement that the
Chinese government adopted the decision to
send volunteers to Korea “under pressure
from Stalin” is also the first documentary
evidence we have of Stalin’s pressuring the
PRC to intervene in the Korean War.  It is far
from conclusive, however; since such a claim
supports the Soviet criticism of the PRC that
is the focus of this survey, it is entirely
possible that the writers stretched an am-
biguous statement by Stalin into “pressure”
to intervene.  A recently-published telegram
from Mao to Stalin on 2 October 1950 re-
veals that Mao immediately informed Stalin
of the decision of the Chinese Communist
Party leadership to send Chinese troops to
Korea, but the Chinese sources do not reveal
communications from Stalin to Mao.13

The implicit criticism of the PRC for
intervening in Korea only to protect its own
security and the lengthy discussion of the
tensions between the PRC and DPRK were
no doubt an attempt to disparage the Chinese
effort in Korea in order to counter criticism
of what was in fact very weak Soviet support
for the DPRK.  Although Stalin provided
North Korea with arms and equipment, once
the United States entered the war he took
great pains to distance the Soviet Union
from the fighting.  And despite heavy bomb-
ing of North Korea by the Americans in the
fall of 1950, the Soviet Union did not inter-
vene to defend its client state.  When Stalin
did at last covertly send military forces to
Korea, in the spring of 1951, he did so only
in support of Chinese forces, to whom he
was bound by a mutual defense treaty.14

It is interesting that this document cites
the participation of Soviet military advisers
and the provision of military equipment, but
does not mention the participation of Soviet
pilots and anti-aircraft personnel.  Accord-
ing to several memoir accounts published
recently in Russia, the Soviet military forces
eventually sent to Korea were substantial,
though still tiny in comparison with the
Chinese military commitment.15  The omis-
sion of such information from this otherwise
quite forthcoming report reinforces accounts
by several participants of the extreme mea-
sures taken by the Soviet government to
keep the extent of its military involvement in
the Korean War a secret,l6 an effort moti-
vated by Stalin’s fear of direct conflict with
the United States.

Finally, this document provides sup-

port for the conclusion that it was the death
of Stalin rather than U.S. threats to use
nuclear weapons that finally brought a break-
through in the negotiations for an armistice
to end the Korean War.  While serving as
Secretary of State under Eisenhower, John
Foster Dulles claimed that it was the new
administration’s “unmistakable warning” to
Beijing that it would use nuclear weapons
against China that finally brought an end to
the war, a claim Eisenhower repeated in his
memoirs.17  However, the threats communi-
cated by the Eisenhower administration were
made in May 1953, two months after Soviet
leaders discussed with Zhou Enlai the need
to conclude an armistice rapidly and dis-
patched a representative to the DPRK to
facilitate this result.  This report is circum-
spect in its discussion of this subject, but it
indicates that as soon as Stalin was no longer
part of the decisionmaking, the Soviets, Chi-
nese and North Koreans were able quickly to
reach an agreement to end the conflict.  If
further evidence proves this conclusion to be
true, it will have significant implications for
our understanding of the relationship among
Stalin, Mao, and Kim, as well as for the
study of “atomic diplomacy.”

Prospects are fairly encouraging for find-
ing answers soon to many of the remaining
questions about the Soviet role in the Korean
War.  The Soviet Foreign Ministry archive,
through a project funded by the International
Archives Support Fund, has begun system-
atically to declassify its records, proceeding
in five year blocks.  For the first year of the
project, Oct. 1992 - Sept. 1993, the archive
planned to declassify records from 1945-50
and 1917-21, and the following year those
for 1951-55 and 1922-26.  So far, the declas-
sification work is on schedule and the results
are encouraging; a large percentage of the
files are being declassified.  The most im-
portant exception is the archive’s continuing
reluctance to release deciphered telegrams,
a critically important category of documents.

The Defense Ministry archive is cur-
rently declassifying its documents on the
Korean War, in response to President
Yeltsin’s promise to South Korea in Novem-
ber 1992 that Soviet records on the war
would be opened.  The Presidential Archive
is also planning to release a collection of
documents on the Korean War.  These are
scheduled to be published in the November
1993 issue of a new journal, Istochnik: Docu-
ments of Russian History, which is under the

general editorship of Rudolf G. Pikhoia,
director of the State Archival Service of the
Russian Government.18

The following text is a translation from
a handwritten copy of the original, which I
wrote in the archives in January 1993.  I was
unable to obtain a photocopy of the docu-
ment because the archive staff said that it did
not have the technical means to make a
photocopy from microfilm.  Since the archive
closed its reading room in April 1993, I have
been unable to fill in the brief sections I
omitted from my hand-written copy, which
are marked here with brackets.

* * * * * *
TOP SECRET

mb-04339/gs     9 August 1966

copies to: Brezhnev (2), Kosygin (2),
Gromyko, Kuznetsov, Kovalev, Kornienko,
Sudarikov, IDU, UVI, OIuVA (2), file (2)

On the Korean War, 1950-53,
and the Armistice Negotiations

  I.  [Background to and Preparations for First
Stage of the War]

After separate elections in 1948 in South
Korea and the formation of the puppet govern-
ment of Rhee Syngman, on the one hand, and the
formation of the DPRK, on the other, relations
between the North and the South of the country
were sharply aggravated.  The Seoul regime, as
well as the DPRK, declared its claim to be the
authority in all of Korea.  The situation at the 38th
parallel became even more tense in 1948 after the
withdrawal of Soviet and American troops from
Korea.

During this period, Kim Il Sung and other
Korean leaders were firmly determined to unify
the country by military means, without devoting
the necessary attention to studying the possibility
that existed at that time for peaceful reunification
through the broad development of the democratic
movement in South Korea.

In the DPRK, a people’s army was created
which in manpower and equipment significantly
surpassed the armed forces of South Korea.  By
January 1, 1950, the total number of DPRK
troops was 110,000; new divisions were hastily
being formed.19

Calculating that the USA would not enter a
war over South Korea, Kim Il Sung persistently
pressed for agreement from Stalin and Mao
Zedong to reunify the country by military means.
(telegrams #4-51, 233, 1950)

Stalin at first treated the persistent appeals
of Kim Il Sung with reserve, noting that “such a
large affair in relation to South Korea ... needs
much preparation,” but he did not object in prin-
ciple.  The final agreement to support the plans of
the Koreans was given by Stalin at the time of







18 COLD WAR INTERNATIONAL HISTORY PROJECT BULLETIN

Origins of the Korean War, 1945-50: New Evidence
From Russian Archives.”
12.  Tworecently published accounts of Kim’s April
1950 visit to Beijing based on Chinese memoirs and
interviews give conflicting accounts: Hao Yufan and
Zhai Zhihai, “China’s Decision to Enter the Korean
War: History Revisited,” China Quarterly 121 (March
1990), 100; and Chen Jian, “The Sino-Soviet Alliance
and China’s Entry into the Korean War,” Cold War
International History Project Working Paper No. 1
(Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson International
Center for Scholars, 1991), 1, 20-21.
13. See  Li Xiaobing, Wang Xi, and Chen Jian, “Mao’s
Dispatch of Chinese Troops to Korea: Forty-Six Tele-
grams, July-October 1950,” Chinese Historians 5:1
(Spring 1992), 67-68.
14.  For details, see Weathersby, “Soviet Aims in
Korea and the Origins of the Korean War, 1945-50:
New Evidence From Russian Archives.”
15.  Lieutenant-General Georgi Lobov, who com-
manded the 64th Corps in Korea, has estimated that
from 1952 until the end of the war in 1953, the corps
numbered about 26,000 personnel.  Interview with G.
Lobov, “Blank Spots of History: In the Skies of North
Korea,” Aviatsiya i Kosmonavitka 10 (Oct. 1990), 30-
31, 34, in JPRS-UAC-91-003 (28 June 1991), 27-31.
Also see Aleksandr Smorchkov, “Speak Korean in
Battle,” Komsomolskava Pravda, 9 June 1990; A.
Roshchin, “During the Cold War on the East River,”
Mezhdunarodnaya Zhizn, Jan. 1990, 131-39; inter-
view with Aleksandr Smorchkov, Moscow Interna-
tional Broadcast Service in Korean, 11 June 1990,
translated in FBIS-SOV-90-121 (22 June 1990), 9-10;
and B.S. Abakumov, “Sovetskie letchiki v nebe Korei,”
Voprosy Istorii, Jan. 1993, 129-39.
16.  See, e.g., the interview with Lobov cited above.
17.  James Sheply, “How Dulles Averted War,” Life,
16 January 1956, 70-72; and Dwight D. Eisenhower,
The White House Years: Mandate for Change, 1953-
1956 (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday and Co., 1963),
179-80.  Furthermore, as Roger Dingman has shown,
the United States had been threatening to use nuclear
weapons throughout the war.  For discussions of this
debate see Roger Dingman, “Atomic Diplomacy Dur-
ing the Korean War,” International Security 13:3 (Win-
ter 1988/89), 50-91, and Rosemary Foot, “Nuclear
Coercion and the Ending of the Korean Conflict,”
International Security 13:3 (Winter 1988/89), 92-112.
18.  For a translation of these documents see my
forthcoming article, “The Soviet Union and the Korean
War:  New Evidence from the Soviet Archives,” in the
winter 1993-94 issue of The Journal of American-East
Asian Relations.
19.  This figure is higher than the estimates of U.S.
intelligence, according to which by June 25 the KPA
numbered between 87,500 and 99,000 men.  See the
discussion of these figures in Cumings, The Origins of
the Korean War, Vol. II, 452-53.

Kathryn Weathersby received her Ph.D. in Rus-
sian history from Indiana University  and is an assis-
tant professor of history at Florida State University
(Tallahassee).  With support from Social Science Re-
search Council and Florida State University, she spent
1992-93 conducting archival research in Moscow on
Soviet policy toward Korea, 1945-53.  Last January
she presented her findings at the CWIHP conference in
Moscow; they are also available in a CWIHP Working
Paper. She has also written a commentary on a collec-
tion of documents on the Korean War from the Presi-
dential Archive, for the Russian journal Istochnik.

ARCHIVES
continued from page 1

Communist Party of the Soviet Union (CPSU)
would have seemed utterly fanciful.  Al-
though the most important archives in Mos-
cow are still sealed off and access to the
Central Committee and Foreign Ministry
collections is still highly problematic, the
Russian government has made at least some
effort to release materials to researchers from
both Russia and abroad.  When I first went to
the Central Committee archives and the For-
eign Ministry archives in 1992 I assumed I
would have to fight constant battles to get the
documents I wanted.  But soon after I began
working there, I found that the main problem
I was having was just the opposite:  namely,
how to cope with the thousands of pages of
materials they were quite readily bringing
me.  Even after some three months of work in
those archives, the difficulty of absorbing
everything remained as acute as ever.  For a
brief while I even began to suspect that
Strachey was justified in regarding igno-
rance as a scholarly virtue.

That feeling quickly dissipated, how-
ever, when the situation at the archive con-
taining the post-1952 holdings of the Central
Committee took a sharp turn for the worse in
the spring of 1993.  The abrupt dismissal of
one of the top archival officials, Vladimir
Chernous, in February 1993 was the first
sign of an impending clampdown.  Chernous
had been a prominent advocate of greater
openness in the CPSU archives.  Two months
later the director of that same Central Com-
mittee repository, Rem Usikov, was also
fired after being accused of “laxness in en-
forcing regulations on access to confidential
material.”2  Although Usikov had been a
long-time CPSU functionary and was never
a proponent of opening up the archives, he
had gone along — if only grudgingly — with
the more relaxed policy that was introduced
in the latter half of 1992 and early 1993.3

Thus, his ouster and the initial charges lodged
against him were a further indicator that a
period of retrenchment was under way.  The
extent of the retrenchment soon became
clearer when Usikov’s successor, Anatolii
Prokopenko, did away with all the proce-
dures that had been adopted in 1992 to make
the archive more accessible.  The new
director’s intention of adhering to what he
described as a “more restrictive approach”
was well summed up in a remark he made
during a conversation in May 1993:  “Yes,

these documents have been declassified, but
that doesn’t mean people should be allowed
to look at them.”4  In the span of just a few
days, all the progress at the Central Commit-
tee archives that had been achieved since
August 1991 seemed to come undone, per-
haps irreparably.

Fortunately, this adverse trend did not
greatly affect the Foreign Ministry archives,
where the degree of access for scholars con-
tinued gradually to expand.  Although the
main reading room at the Foreign Ministry
was closed temporarily in mid-1993 (a
smaller, temporary one was then opened
following complaints from researchers), this
was done mainly so that renovations and a
much-needed expansion of the room could
be completed.  The clampdown at the CPSU
archives may have engendered a somewhat
more cautious atmosphere at the Foreign
Ministry, but the trend at the latter was still
toward greater openness.

Furthermore, even at the post-1952 Cen-
tral Committee archives the situation as of
mid-1993 was by no means hopeless.  In the
past, Prokopenko espoused a distinctly lib-
eral view of the need to curb “senseless,
deliberately obstructive, and phony” restric-
tions on “supposedly classified” materials,
arguing that “only a small number of these
documents genuinely contain secrets.”5  At
one point he even quit his job as director of
the USSR’s “Special Archive” — the re-
pository in which captured document col-
lections and other highly sensitive items
were stored — because he could no longer
put up with the “extremely ignorant people”
in the Main Archival Directorate
(Glavarkhiv) who “insist on keeping every-
thing secret.”6  Moreover, in conversations
with Cold War International History Project
officials in July 1993, both Prokopenko and
other archival authorities expressed a will-
ingness to continue cooperation with for-
eign researchers and projects.    Hence, even
before Prokopenko was replaced because of
health reasons by Natalia Tomilina in Sep-
tember, there were some grounds for opti-
mism that the setback at the former CPSU
archives would be only temporary.

Nevertheless, even if the regressive steps
that Prokopenko implemented in the spring
of 1993 are eventually reversed by his suc-
cessors, the sudden change of policy was a
sobering reminder of how little the Russian
authorities understand about the way a gov-
ernment archive is supposed to operate.  In
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archives suggests that any gaps which may
have been created are modest compared to
the evidence that was not destroyed.

A potentially more vexing problem
comes from documents that never existed at
all — that is, from decisions which were
made without leaving an explicit “paper
trail” of written orders, notes, or transcripts
of deliberations.  The methodological pit-
falls associated with this phenomenon can
be seen outside the Soviet field in the works
of certain historians who have examined
Hitler’s decision to order the mass destruc-
tion of European Jews.  Because Hitler
himself refrained from committing the ex-
termination policy to paper (leaving that to
subordinates like Himmler, Heydrich, and
Eichmann) and resorted to euphemisms
when describing the policy in his speeches,
a few “revisionist” historians such as David
Irving have argued that the Holocaust went
on without Hitler’s knowledge or approval.16

This thesis has been decisively refuted by a
large number of historians both inside and
outside Germany, but the very fact that
Irving can make his claims — no matter
how tendentious they may seem — under-
scores the way the lack of written records on
particular matters can be abused and ma-
nipulated by historians.17

To a certain extent at least, this same
problem is bound to arise with the former
Soviet archives.  In a country like the Soviet
Union, where “telephone justice” (i.e., tele-
phone calls from top CPSU officials to state
functionaries ordering them how to resolve
specific issues) and “word-of-mouth-only”
decision-making long prevailed, one is apt
to find important activities or decisions that
were not committed to paper.  This may well
be the case, for example, with the assassina-
tion in 1934 of the head of the Leningrad
party, Sergei Kirov.  Although most histori-
ans agree that Stalin himself ordered the
murder, no written order to that effect has
yet been located, and it is likely that none
exists.18  Problems of this sort also crop up
from time to time in the study of Soviet
foreign policy.  Deliberations about key
foreign policy decisions, both during and
after the Stalinist era, did not always get
recorded in full.  Such may be the case, for
example, with the decision in 1962 to de-
ploy nuclear missiles in Cuba.  Although a
vast amount of evidence about the Cuban
missile crisis has recently come to light,
there is little reason to expect that docu-

ments will emerge explaining precisely what
the Soviet leadership hoped to gain from the
missile deployments.19

Nevertheless, despite the obstacles
caused by gaps in the written record (espe-
cially from the Stalin era), these need not
hinder efforts to understand Soviet history.
For one thing, in a country that was as ob-
sessed with record-keeping of all sorts as the
Soviet Union was, the documentation of most
events and decisions was far more extensive
than one would find virtually anywhere else.
Shortly before the archives were opened, a
few Western scholars had speculated that
access to Soviet repositories would be of
only limited value because the records in
Moscow “are probably sparse.”20  Even a
brief stint at the ex-Soviet archives will show
how unfounded this claim was.  Far from
being “sparse,” the archives in Moscow are
overflowing with documents and informa-
tion that will greatly enrich our historical
understanding.  What is more, even when
genuine gaps in the record exist, one can
always try to work around them.  The spe-
cific order for Kirov’s assassination may not
have been put down on paper, but an enor-
mous amount of other evidence points to
Stalin’s complicity, as Robert Conquest and
others have demonstrated.  If freer access is
granted to the most important archives in
Moscow (i.e., the Presidential Archive, the
military archives, and the KGB archives),
the amount of documentation that will help
fill in gaps will only increase.

Furthermore, even though some gaps
are likely to remain once all the archives
have been opened, that will not necessarily
inhibit scholarly endeavors.  No matter how
complete or incomplete the written record
may be in any particular instance, there will
always be room for legitimate differences of
interpretation.  New documentary evidence
can help narrow those differences and cast
doubt on certain interpretations — which is
precisely why archival research is valuable
— but it would be naive to think that the
archives alone will generate a grand schol-
arly consensus on every important matter.
With or without greater access to the former
Soviet archives, disagreements about how to
interpret specific events and documents will
persist in the future.

This is not to say, however, that the
importance of archival research should be
discounted; quite the contrary.  The opportu-
nity to examine declassified Soviet docu-

ments and the latest memoirs by ex-Soviet
officials may not be a panacea, but it is the
only way we are going to obtain a better
understanding of Soviet history.  Archival
evidence and new memoirs can bring to light
previously unknown data; and, equally im-
portant, they can corroborate or undercut
interpretations that had long been taken for
granted.  Several years ago John Lewis
Gaddis noted the value of declassified mate-
rials for the study of U.S. foreign policy, and
his remarks seem even more apposite now,
mutatis mutandis, for the study of Soviet
foreign policy:

I am familiar with the argument that the
[New York] Times is usually two steps ahead
of the Central Intelligence Agency in any
event, and that access to internal govern-
ment documents would not substantially al-
ter our knowledge of what is going on at any
given point.  But that is simply not true:
anyone who has looked carefully at declas-
sified government documents from the post-
1945 era will know how inadequate the
public record is as a guide to what was
actually happening. . . .  And even when the
public record does faithfully reflect what
goes on behind the scenes, the psychology of
many policymakers — at least those who
believe that nothing is worth reading unless
it is stamped “top secret” — might well
cause them to discount generalizations based
A
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confident assumptions about what could be
gleaned from open sources have not been
borne out by the new documentary evidence
in Moscow.  On the contrary, we can now see
from the Russian archives that the diver-
gence between the “public record” and “what
was actually happening” in Soviet foreign
policy was, if anything, even wider than one
might have expected.24

Thus, for scholars who hope to be more
knowledgeable and more accurate about the
topics they are exploring, access to declassi-
fied Soviet documents will be of great ben-
efit.  The potential value of the new archival
sources is apparent from the way the earlier
release of American and West European
documents enriched our understanding of
Stalin’s foreign policy.  In the late 1970s and
early 1980s, when “post-revisionist” schol-
ars began reexamining the Soviet Union’s
role in the early Cold War years, they were
able to exploit newly declassified Western
materials to bridge at least part of the gap
between the “public record” and “what was
actually happening.”25  The opportunity to
take advantage of this evidence helped en-
sure that the post-revisionist works surpassed
all previous studies in the field, both in
nuance and in scope.  Needless to say, the
likelihood of further advances is even greater
now that declassified documents will be
available not only from Western countries
but from Moscow as well.

Already, in fact, new evidence from the
ex-Soviet archives has shed a good deal of
light on key topics in Soviet domestic affairs
and foreign policy.  For example, recently
declassified materials confirm that Stalin
played a direct and expansive role in the
mass repressions of the 1930s, 1940s, and
1950s, contrary to what some Western “re-
visionist” historians had been arguing.26  The
new evidence also undercuts the revision-
ists’ claims that the scale of the Stalinist
repressions was much smaller than earlier
Western estimates had suggested.  It turns
out that the earlier estimates, far from being
too high, may in some cases have signifi-
cantly understated the actual number of vic-
tims.27  With regard to foreign policy, de-
classified materials have helped clarify such
important issues as the Sino-Soviet split, the
Soviet role in the Korean and Vietnam wars,
and Moscow’s decision to invade Afghani-
stan.  On this last topic, for example, many
hundreds of pages of newly released docu-
ments indicate that Soviet leaders in Decem-

ber 1979 were well aware of the potential
difficulties that Soviet troops might encoun-
ter, but were convinced that all those prob-
lems could be overcome relatively easily.28

As more documents are declassified in
the future, our understanding of many other
issues is also bound to improve.  Materials
from the Presidential Archive, the military
archives, and the KGB archives, which are
not yet freely available, should be especially
valuable in helping to clarify some of the
most mysterious and controversial topics.
To be sure, scholars will have to be cautious
about what they find in the archives, and will
have to resist some of the methodological
pitfalls discussed below.  Also, it is worth
stressing again that new evidence, no matter
how important, cannot guarantee a scholarly
consensus.  The room for legitimate dis-
agreement may narrow considerably, but
differences over the best way to interpret
complex events will inevitably remain.  Yet,
despite all these caveats, it is clear that the
opening of the ex-Soviet archives has pro-
vided immense opportunities for scholars.

New Archival Collections

Until late 1991, the central state ar-
chives of the Soviet Union were adminis-
tered by the Main Archival Directorate
(Glavarkhiv) of the Soviet Council of Min-
isters.  Glavarkhiv also supervised several
thousand regional and local archives in the
USSR.  The CPSU archives, however, were
managed separately by the party itself.  The
Institute of Marxism-Leninism was respon-
sible for the Central Party Archive, while the
Central Committee apparatus supervised its
own 140 archives as well as those of the
Secretariat.  Documents from the Politburo,
as noted below, were stored in a special
archive in the Kremlin, under the direct
control of the CPSU General Secretary.

Following the aborted coup in August
1991 and the dissolution of the USSR four
months later, the archives in Moscow were
extensively reorganized.  Glavarkhiv was
abolished, and almost all of its vast staff and
bureaucratic apparatus, including its spe-
cialized archival research institute, were
transferred intact to the newly created Rus-
sian State Committee on Archival Affairs
(Roskomarkhiv).  The 15 central state ar-
chives in Russia that had been administered
by Glavarkhiv were placed under the direct
jurisdiction of Roskomarkhiv.  Most of the

nearly 2,200 other state archives in Russia
— including 47 republican archives, 170
regional sites, and 1,981 provincial and local
repositories — also came under the new
agency’s indirect control, though they were
accorded much greater autonomy than they
ever were permitted when they had to report
to Glavarkhiv.29  As of late 1992, the 17fed-
eral archives under Roskomarkhiv’s direct
control housed some 65.3 million files, com-
prising many billions of pages of docu-
ments.  The other state archives in Russia —
at the republic, regional, and provincial lev-
els — accounted for another 138.7 million
files, with billions more pages of documents.

In early 1993, Roskomarkhiv was reor-
ganized and renamed the “State Archival
Service of Russia” (Rosarkhiv), in accor-
dance with a governmental decree signed in
late December 1992.30  The change of name
and restructuring of the agency were in-
tended to place Rosarkhiv on a par, both
symbolically and substantively, with other
federal agencies such as the Russian Exter-
nal Intelligence Service (RSVR).  The cur-
rent director of Rosarkhiv is Rudolf  Pikhoya,
who was formerly the prorector of the uni-
versity in Sverdlovsk (now called
Ekaterinburg), where he became acquainted
with the then-first secretary of the Sverd-
lovsk branch of the CPSU, Boris Yeltsin.  It
was also in Sverdlovsk that Pikhoya got to
know a faculty member, Gennadii Burbulis,
who later became a top aide to Yeltsin.
Thus, it is not surprising that Yeltsin would
have chosen Pikhoya to supervise Russia’s
archives, a post that is far more politically
sensitive than it would be in most countries.
Nor is it surprising that as the head of
Rosarkhiv, Pikhoya has been unusually at-
tentive to the political interests of Yeltsin,
not only by releasing documents that are
embarrassing to Yeltsin’s opponents (espe-
cially Mikhail Gorbachev), but also by serv-
ing as a presidential envoy when materials
have been turned over to foreign countries.31

Although Pikhoya is the leading archi-
val official in Russia, his agency does not yet
have jurisdiction over some of the most
important archival collections, including the
CPSU Politburo’s records.  Rosarkhiv does,
however, have control over the rest of the
former CPSU archives in Moscow, which
are now divided between two major sites:
the Russian Center for the Storage and Study
of Documents of Recent History
(RTsKhIDNI), which includes the former
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Central Party Archive and other CPSU hold-
ings through October 1952; and the much
larger Center for Storage of Contemporary
Documentation (TsKhSD), which includes
all CPSU Central Committee holdings from
October 1952 through the end of the Soviet
regime in December 1991.32  Even though
the two repositories are both subordinate to
Rosarkhiv and are geographically
propinquitous to one another, there seems to
be relatively little interaction or collabora-
tion between them.

Together, the former CPSU archives
include some 30 million files with more
than six billion pages of documents accu-
mulated by the Central Party Archive and
the Central Committee apparatus (Fond No.
5), plus a smaller number of documents
pertaining to the CPSU Secretariat (Fond
No. 4).  For the most part these documents,
especially those in Fond No. 5, key “inputs”
into the decision-making process, rather
than how decisions were actually made at
the top levels.  The materials collected by
the Central Committee apparatus include a
vast number of items produced by the For-
eign Ministry, KGB, Defense Ministry, and
other state agencies, copies of which were
routinely sent to the relevant CPSU depart-
ments.  RTsKhIDNI’s holdings also include
the voluminous files of the Comintern (Fond
No. 495), the Soviet-sponsored organiza-
tion that coordinated and directed interna-
tional communist activities until it was for-
mally dissolved in 1943.

In general, the documents from the
post-October 1952 period at TsKhSD are
better organized than the older documents
stored at RTsKhIDNI; but the finding aids
at RTsKhIDNI, which have now been listed
in a computerized data base, are elaborate
enough to compensate for most deficiencies
in organization.  (The main exception is the
Comintern files, for which finding aids are
unavailable.)  The finding aids at TsKhSD
are also of superb quality, even by Western
standards.  Researchers at the archives can
look up whatever files they need under the
appropriate Central Committee departments,
relevant timeframe, and even specific top-
ics.  Whether requests to look at the files will
be granted is, of course, a different matter,
especially at TsKhSD.

The archives of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs (MID), which were recently renamed
the “Foreign Policy Archives of the Russian
Federation” (AVPRF), are not under

Rosarkhiv’s jurisdiction and thus have oper-
ated along somewhat different lines.  In ac-
cordance with the liberal and pro-Western
orientation of Russian foreign minister Andrei
Kozyrev, the AVPRF was the first of the
former Soviet archives to open its postwar
holdings to outside researchers, despite re-
sistance by some archivists within the minis-
try.  (Some noteworthy progress toward open-
ing the MID archives had already begun
under the final three Soviet foreign minis-
ters—Eduard Shevardnadze, Aleksandr
Bessmertnykh, and Boris Pankin, especially
Pankin and Shevardnadze—whose outlook
was similar to Kozyrev’s.)  Although the
declassification procedures at the AVPRF
are still cumbersome and slow, the archive
overall has become increasingly accessible
since mid-1992 and has remained so even
while the CPSU archives have been retrench-
ing.  This auspicious trend at MID is at least
partly attributable to the existence of a multi-
country arrangement that has helped foster
an institutionalized framework for the
AVPRF, as will be discussed below.

The bulk of the AVPRF’s holdings con-
sists of cables, reports, and other documents
generated either at Soviet embassies or within
the ministry’s own departments and agen-
cies.33  Although many of the cables and
reports are routine and uninformative, others
contain important transcripts of conversa-
tions with foreign leaders or cogent assess-
ments of the strengths and weaknesses of
Soviet policy.  A special division of the
AVPRF, Fond No. 59, contains all the ci-
phered (i.e., supersecret) cables transmitted
to and from Soviet embassies over the years,
but this entire division, unfortunately, is still
off limits.34  Even without access to the most
sensitive items, however, researchers are
bound to come across plenty of valuable
documents in the AVPRF.

The main problem with the Foreign
Ministry archives, in fact, is not that materi-
als are inaccessible, but that no finding aids
of any sort have been disseminated.  This
deficiency has compelled researchers to de-
pend entirely, or almost entirely, on archival
employees to find out what is available on a
particular subject.  Even the best-intentioned
and most capable archivists will not be able
to provide the comprehensive coverage one
can get by perusing finding aids such as those
at the Central Committee archives.  More-
over, the lack of finding aids at the AVPRF
precludes the serendipitous discovery of ma-

terials closely (or not so closely) related to
the researcher’s project, which the archivist
may not realize would be of interest.  Al-
though officials in charge of the Foreign
Ministry archives are aware of the problems
caused by the lack of finding aids, they say
that severe funding constraints have pre-
vented them from taking remedial steps.
Among other things, they would have to pay
for the reproduction of dozens of inventories
(opisi), and would have to hire and pay
additional staff (retired senior diplomats) to
scrutinize and declassify every page of the
opisi.  Some rudimentary finding aids, in-
cluding lists of fonds and opisi, are supposed
to be compiled in 1993 and 1994, and more
elaborate materials should be available by
1995 or 1996.  Those measures will certainly
help, but the utility of the AVPRF will be
limited until it provides finding aids compa-
rable to those at the CPSU archives.

As illuminating as the former Central
Party Archive, the former Central Commit-
tee archives, and the Foreign Ministry ar-
chives may be, they are not the most impor-
tant repositories in Moscow.  Scholars hop-
ing to understand how decisions were made
at the highest levels, as opposed to the “in-
puts” into the decision-making process, must
look elsewhere.35  All transcripts and notes
from the CPSU Politburo’s meetings, all
materials in the vast personal files of top
Soviet officials, and all other items deemed
to be of greatest sensitivity are in the Krem-
lin Archive (Fond No. 3), which during
Mikhail Gorbachev’s time was reorganized,
expanded, and renamed the “Presidential
Archive.”36  During the final years of the
Soviet regime, countless documents that had
been stored in the CPSU archives were re-
moved from their files and transferred per-
manently to the Presidential Archive, in keep-
ing with Gorbachev’s broader efforts to shift
power from the central party apparatus to the
state presidency.  The rest of the CPSU
holdings have been under the jurisdiction of
Roskomarkhiv/Rosarkhiv since late August
1991, but the Presidential Archive has re-
mained independent.  In December 1991 the
outgoing Soviet president (Gorbachev) re-
linquished control of the Presidential Ar-
chive to the Russian president, and it has
been under Yeltsin’s direct supervision ever
since.

No change in that status is envisaged
any time soon under the new archival law,
even though there have been periodic inti-
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to abide by the agreement, but it is difficult
to square that pledge with some of his ac-
tions, especially his decision to deny or limit
access to Fond No. 89.71

For Western scholars not associated with
CWIHP, the task of working in the former
CPSU archives has been more arduous still.
Although all scholars were supposed to have
access to materials released in connection
with the CWIHP-TsKhSD-IVI project, those
materials were deemed to be “classified”
until they were formally released.72  Conse-
quently, researchers not affiliated with the
CWIHP venture (or with one of the other
Western deals with Roskomarkhiv/
Rosarkhiv) almost invariably found that they
were denied access to materials at TsKhSD,
despite CWIHP’s repeated requests that all
scholars receive equal access to released
materials.  Although this situation should
have been rectified once thousands of docu-
ments were “declassified” for the CWIHP-
TsKhSD-IVI participants, it is not yet clear
whether TsKhSD will live up to its obliga-
tions.  Certainly the archive’s rigidity in
providing access to some researchers but no
access at all to others in 1992 and early 1993
was a telltale sign of the much more vexing
problems to come in the spring and summer
of 1993.  Those problems will be discussed
at greater length in the next section.

A collaborative project that has been
more durable, at least so far, is an effort to
link the Russian Foreign Ministry archives

with a panel known as the International
Academic Advisory Group (IAAG).  This
multinational undertaking is sponsored by
the Norwegian Nobel Institute, which has
helped raise funds of more than $100,000
for the archive from Japanese and U.S. do-
nors, and administered by the International
Archives Assistance Fund (IASF).  The ar-
rangement provides for four senior Western
scholars (Odd Arne Westad from Norway,
William Taubman from the United States,
Jonathan Haslam from Great Britain, and
Gerhard Wettig from Germany) to serve on
a joint board with archivists and historians
from MID.  The panel, which is chaired by
Westad and has Sven Holtsmark of the IASF
as its secretary, has assisted the AVPRF in
applying for funds from Western and Japa-
nese sources to help ameliorate specific fea-
tures of the archive that are most deficient
(e.g., finding aids, the size and working
conditions of the reading room, and salaries
for the staff).  The funding allotments them-
selves give the IAAG considerable leverage
over the AVPRF’s priorities, and the panel
also can make recommendations for other
improvements as it sees fit, especially re-
garding declassification procedures.

Among the concrete results of the
IAAG’s work was the establishment of a set
of guidelines for declassifying and releasing
materials, which the group presented to the
Foreign Ministry collegium in March 1992.
Their proposals were adopted largely intact

the following month, when the Foreign Min-
istry published new sets of rules for archival
declassification and access.73  The new regu-
lations stipulate that the AVPRF must make
items older than 30 years available as soon
as possible except when doing so would
“demonstrably impede” Russia’s security or
cause “danger or distress” to individuals.
Although these clauses are phrased so broadly
that they may be susceptible to abuse, the
IAAG has been careful to monitor the imple-
mentation of the new rules and to recom-
mend improvements when needed.  Despite
relatively slow progress in spurring the
AVPRF to release and produce more finding
aids, and to declassify deciphered telegrams,
the international advisory panel has gener-
ally been successful in fostering a climate of
greater openness.

Another collaborative project that has
been valuable in helping to open up some of
the most important Russian archives is the
renewed publication — after a 30-year hia-
tus — of Istoricheskii arkhiv, which covers
the latest developments in archival affairs.
The journal’s chief editor is A. A.
Chernobaev, and the editorial board, chaired
by Pikhoya, consists of distinguished Rus-
sian, American, British, and German schol-
ars and archival officials, who are able to
ensure that Istoricheskii arkhiv meets high
professional standards.  Two prominent U.S.
specialists connected with the Hoover project
— the deputy director of the Hoover Institu-

Note on the Foreign Policy Archive
of the Russian Federation

by Vladimir V. Sokolov and
Sven G. Holtsmark

For students of the history of interna-
tional relations since 1917, the gradual open-
ing up of the collection of the Foreign
Policy Archive of the Russian Federation
(AVPRF, Arkhiv Vneshnei Politiki
Rossiiskoi Federatsii) means exciting new
challenges and opportunities.  For the first
time it is now possible to start detailed and
in-depth studies of the Soviet foreign policy
making process based on a kind of material
which is, after all, not altogether different
from what one expects to find in the Foreign
Ministry archives of other great powers.

The AVPRF was built up with the single
aim of serving the needs of the Soviet for-

eign policy apparatus.  This is reflected in the
way the archive is organized, and in the
absence of a system of finding aids created
for the purpose of allowing external users
easy access to relevant documentation.  Con-
trary to what is common practice in western
countries, external users are assisted by staff
members whose primary task is to respond to
requests from the Ministry’s own users of the
archival collections.

In the transformation process now un-
derway in the AVPRF, the following points
are worth noting.  Declassification is being
carried out on a comprehensive and chrono-
logical basis, starting from both 1917 and
1945.  As of September 1993, materials
covering the periods 1917-1922 and 1945-
50 will be basically declassified.  Declassifi-
cation of the periods 1922-27 and 1951-55 is
scheduled to be completed by September
1994.

The declassification process encom-
passes all major fondy of the archives.  One
should be aware, however, that the ordinary
fondy do not contain deciphered telegrams.
All such telegrams are located in a special
collection, which is subject to declassifica-
tion and access rules of its own.  Nonethe-
less, declassification of this collection is
underway for the period 1917-1941, but
external users of the archive should not
expect to be able to make substantial use of
this part of the archive’s holdings for the
time being.  One should be aware, however,
that a significant number of telegrams as
well as documents from other collections
have been declassified on an ad hoc basis in
order to provide documentation on some of
the so-called white spots of Soviet external
relations, such as Soviet policy towards Hun-
gary in 1956 and Czechoslovakia in 1968.

continued on page 52
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ers and Soviet diplomats (which turned out
to be perfectly routine and above-board);
and the unauthorized and misattributed pub-
lication in London of extracts from diaries
by Josef Goebbels that had been stored in
the Moscow archives.91  After each of these
episodes, Russian archival officials briefly
enforced stricter regulations, but they did
not abandon the general trend toward greater
openness.  The reaction to the “Morris af-
fair” was very different insofar as it severely
disrupted and reversed almost all the posi-
tive steps that had been implemented.  Al-
though the clampdown is not likely to be
permanent, it was a disheartening step back-
ward that threatened to inhibit the develop-
ment of a sound archival policy in Russia.

The reimposition of a “strict regime”
(strogii rezhim) at TsKhSD may also hinder
any further clarification of the two trans-
lated documents, at least for some time to
come.  This is unfortunate for both scholarly
and practical reasons.  Western commenta-
tors have focused almost exclusively on the
statistics in the translated reports or on the
position that General Quang may have oc-
cupied in September 1972, but other aspects
of the Quang document, particularly
Ivashutin’s introductory memorandum, are
far more tantalizing.  We may never know
whether there was an authentic report in
Vietnamese by General Quang, but we al-
ready know that Ivashutin’s memorandum
is authentic and that he regarded the figure
of 1,205 U.S. POWs to be accurate.  We
need to find out why.  Similarly, Ivashutin’s
memorandum has a handwritten notation on
it from Konstantin Katushev, the CPSU
Secretary responsible for ties with other
ruling Communist parties, to Igor Ognetov,
the head of the sector for North Vietnam.92

Katushev instructed Ognetov to “prepare,
on an urgent basis, a short note for the CPSU
CC Politburo about the prisoners of war.”
The fact that Katushev, as the most senior
official in Moscow with day-to-day respon-
sibility for Vietnam, recognized the impor-
tance of Quang’s remarks about the POWs
should give pause to anyone who is tempted
to dismiss the figures out of hand.

Another aspect of the Quang document
that needs to be clarified is the brief cover
sheet from Ognetov, which apparently is in
response to Katushev’s handwritten note.93

Ivashutin’s memorandum was prepared in
late November 1972, and Katushev’s nota-
tion was made on or about 1 December.

Ognetov’s typed message, dated 6 February
1973, merely observes that “the instruction
[presumably a reference to Katushev’s hand-
written instruction] has been overtaken by
events” and that “comrade K. F. Katushev
has been informed.”94  This simple, two-line
message raises a host of intriguing questions:
Why did Ognetov wait more than two months
before responding to Katushev’s “urgent”
order?  Did Ognetov prepare a “short note”
for the Politburo in the interim, as he was
instructed?  If so, what did it say and what
happened to it?  What were the “events” that
Ognetov believed had “overtaken” the in-
struction from Katushev?  Among the pos-
sible answers to this last question are:  (1) the
signing of the Paris peace accords on 27
January 1973, which provided for the release
of all American POWs; (2) the issuance of
lists that same day by the U.S. State Depart-
ment and the North Vietnamese government
of the 591 American prisoners who were
eventually set free under Operation Home-
coming; and (3) a top-level meeting of the
Soviet and North Vietnamese Communist
parties in Moscow on 30 January 1973, which
involved both Katushev and one of his clos-
est aides, Oleg Rakhmanin, along with all the
members of the CPSU Politburo.95  Are these
the “events” that Ognetov had in mind, and if
so, what bearing did they have on the much
higher number of prisoners cited in the trans-
lated report?  (The list of 591 POWs repre-
sented the 368 whose capture had been pub-
licly acknowledged before September 1972,
plus the 223 Americans who were taken
prisoner after that date, mainly during the
Christmas bombings of North Vietnam.)  How
much credibility did Ognetov attach to the
higher figures?

Until these sorts of questions are an-
swered, it will be impossible to arrive at any
firm conclusions about the data cited in the
two translations.  Even if the figures of 735
and 1,205 turn out to be much too high, a
smaller discrepancy would still be worth
exploring, on the off chance that some of the
POWs are still alive.  Nevertheless, it will be
extremely difficult to further investigate the
matter so long as the clampdown at TsKhSD
continues.  One would need free access to
such things as the “short note” to the CPSU
Politburo that Ognetov was ordered to “pre-
pare on an urgent basis,” the Politburo’s
deliberations about the Paris peace accords,
and the secret transcripts from the Soviet-
North Vietnamese meetings of 30 January

1973.  These and other documents must exist
at either TsKhSD or the Presidential Ar-
chive.  But rather than allowing outside
experts and scholars to find materials that
would shed greater light on the issue, Rus-
sian archival officials have taken the coun-
terproductive and irrational step of trying to
prevent researchers from doing their work.
Unfortunately, the whole episode suggests
we may have to wait years before a genuine
archival system emerges in Russia.  In a
country where democracy is still so rudi-
mentary and tenuous, the status of the ar-
chives is bound to remain problematic.

Methodological Pitfalls

Having been denied access to archival
materials in Moscow for so long, scholars
who are now finally being permitted to ex-
amine Soviet documents may be tempted to
draw sweeping conclusions from what they
find.  In some cases these conclusions are
likely to be justified, but a good deal of
caution is in order.  Part of the problem, as E.
H. Carr noted more than 30 years ago, is the
tendency of historians to be overly impressed
by what they find on paper:

The nineteenth-century fetishism of facts
was completed and justified by a fetish-
ism of documents.  The documents were
the Ark of the Covenant in the temple of
facts.  The reverent historian approached
them with bowed head and spoke of them
in awed tones.  If you find it in the
documents, it is so.  But what, when we
get down to it, do these documents — the
decrees, the treaties, the rent-rolls, the
blue books, the official correspondence,
the private letters and diaries — actually
tell us?  No document can tell us more
than what the author of the document
thought — what he thought had hap-
pened, what he thought ought to happen
or would happen, or perhaps only what
he wanted others to think he thought, or
even only what he himself thought he
thought.96

There is a danger that scholars will become
so engrossed by what they come across in
documents marked with the “strogo sekretno”
(strictly secret) or “sovershenno sekretno”
(top secret) stamp that they will not ap-
proach these materials with the same degree
of detachment they would exercise when
considering most other forms of historical
evidence.  The novelty of looking through
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Mlynar, and Josef Smrkovsky:  Hope Dies Last:  The
Autobiography of Alexander Dubcek, trans. and ed. by
Jiri Hochman (New York:  Kodansha International,
1993), 168; Zdenek Mlynar, Nachtfrost:  Erfahrungen
auf dem Weg vom realen zum menschlichen Sozialismus
(Koln:  Eurpaisches Verlagsanstalt, 1978), 151-52; and
“Nedokonceny rozhovor:  Mluvi Josef Smrkovsky,”
Listy:  Casopis ceskoslovenske socialisticke opozice
(Rome) 4:2 (March 1975), 13-14.  Dubcek’s memoir
says Kosygin uttered the slurs, whereas Mlynar and
Smrkovsky both point to Shelest.
100. The disjuncture of the transcript suggests that this
latter scenario is what transpired, but the renumbering
of the pages prevents any conclusive determination.
101. See Mark Kramer, “Remembering the Cuban
Missile Crisis:  Should We Swallow Oral History?”
International Security 15:1 (Summer 1990), 212-18,
with a response by Bruce Allyn, James G. Blight, and
David A. Welch.  See further comments about these
shortcomings in Mark Kramer, “New Sources on the
1968 Soviet Invasion of Czechoslovakia” (Part One),
Cold War International History Project Bulletin 2 (Fall
1992), 8, 11.
102. McCarthy’s remark came during an interview with
Dick Cavett in early 1980.  See Herbert Mitgang, “Miss
Hellman Suing a Critic for 2.25 Million,” New York
Times, 16 February 1980, 12.  During the Stalin era,
many Soviet leaders attained this level of mendacity,
and even more recently a few ex-officials in Moscow —
Andrei Gromyko and Valentin Falin, to name two —
came reasonably close.
103. Even when numerous accounts are available, there
may be contradictions and discrepancies that cannot be
resolved.  This is the case so far with the question of
whether the Soviet Union would have invaded Poland
in December 1981 if the Polish president, General
Wojciech Jaruzelski, had been unable or unwilling to
impose martial law.  For sharply divergent views on this
matter from key participants in the crisis, see Wojciech
Jaruzelski, Stan wojenny — dlaczego (Warsaw:  BGW,
1992); Wojciech Jaruzelski, Les chaines et le refuge
(Paris:  Lattes, 1992); Stanislaw Kania, Zatrzymac
konfrontacje (Wroclaw:  BGW, 1991); the interview
with Ryszard Kuklinski, “Wojna z narodem widziana
od srodka,” Kultura (Paris), 4/475 (April 1987), 3-57;
Mieczylaw Rakowski, Jak to sie stalo (Warsaw:  BGW,
1991); A. I. Gribkov, “‘Doktrina Brezhneva’ i pol’skii
krizis nachala 80-kh godov,” Voenno-istoricheskii
zhurnal (Moscow) 9 (September 1992), 46-57; and
Vitalii Pavlov, Wspomnienia rezydenta KGB w Polsce
(Warsaw:  BGW, 1993).  The only way the matter will
be resolved — if it ever will be — is through the release
of more documents from the Presidential Archive.
Some extremely valuable documents have already been
declassified (as cited in note 111 infra), but these do not
conclusively settle the matter.  In other cases where
first-hand accounts conflict, there may be little or no
chance of ever getting documentation that could clarify
things.  To cite one of countless examples, it has long
been thought that at a meeting in December 1967
between the CPSU General Secretary, Leonid Brezhnev,
and top Czechoslovak Communist Party (KSC) offi-
cials, Brezhnev declared “Eto vashe delo” (“This is
your own affair”) when he was asked to intervene in the
KSC’s leadership dispute.  Brezhnev certainly said
things to that effect, but whether he actually uttered this
phrase is unclear.  Alexander Dubcek, who was present
at the meeting, later was unsure whether Brezhnev had
used the expression.  Other prominent ex-KSC offi-
cials, such as Josef Smrkovsky and Jiri Pelikan, did
believe Brezhnev had used the three words, but neither

of them was actually present at the meeting.  Whatever
Brezhnev did or did not say, the phrase has become a
part of the standard lore about the Prague Spring.
104. Interview with former Soviet foreign minister
Eduard Shevardnadze, Brown University, 25 May 1991.
105. Emphasis added.  This document, dated 24 De-
cember 1974, is sealed off in a “Special Dossier”
(Osobaya papka), but is cited by Il’ya Gaiduk in foot-
note 34 of his manuscript “V’etnamskaya voina i
sovetsko-amerikanskie otnosheniya,” presented at the
CWIHP-IVI-TsKhSD conference in Moscow, 12-15
January 1993.
106. Shevardnadze supported this general proposition
in an interview at Brown University, 25 May 1991.
107. See Gaiduk, “V’etnamskaya voina i sovetsko-
amerikanskie otnosheniya.”  I do not entirely agree,
however, with the emphasis Gaiduk places on the
Foreign Ministry’s role in particular.  In relations with
a Communist country like North Vietnam, the key
factor was party-to-party ties, which were supervised
by the CPSU Central Committee department respon-
sible for intra-bloc affairs.  Foreign Ministry inputs, in
most cases, probably came via the Central Committee
department rather than directly to the Politburo.
108. A telling example of this phenomenon arose with
a lengthy report transmitted by the Soviet ambassador
in Romania, A. V. Basov, in September 1968.  The
report, entitled “On Certain Problems in Soviet-Roma-
nian Relations in Light of the Positions Adopted by the
Leadership of the RCP vis-a-vis the Events in Czecho-
slovakia,” analyzed Romania’s stance during the
Czechoslovak crisis and offered numerous recommen-
dations at the end for Soviet policy toward Romania.  A
one-page attachment to the report, from G. Kiselev, the
deputy head of the CPSU Central Committee Depart-
ment for Ties with Communist and Workers’ Parties of
Socialist Countries, tersely remarked that “the majority
of issues raised in the report and the concrete proposals
of the embassy were already decided on in the CPSU
Central Committee” nearly a week before the report
was submitted.  Kiselev noted that “the position of the
embassy does not diverge from the CPSU CC’s deci-
sions,” and he backed up his point by listing each of the
recommendations in the report and correlating it with
an earlier decision by the Politburo.  For the report and
Kiselev’s memorandum (described as “Supplement to
Document No. 27116”), see “TsK KPSS:  O nekotorykh
problemakh sovetsko-rumynskikh otnoshenii v svete
pozitsii, zanyatoi rukovodstvom RKP v svyazi s
sobytiyami v Chekhoslovakii,” Report No. 686 (TOP
SECRET) to the CPSU CC Politburo, 23 September
1968, in TsKhSD, F. 5, Op. 60, D.339, Ll. 106-121.
109. See Carr, What Is History? 16-19, esp. 18-19.
110. The potential for problems is adumbrated in the
Russian government’s Decree No. 838 (“O realizatsii
gosudarstvennoi politiki v arkhivnom dele”), which
indicates that plans are underway to “publish historical
sources and scholarly-informational literature during
the period from 1994 to 2000, taking account of pro-
spective directions in which the country’s historical
scholarship might develop, the growth of national and
historical consciousness of Russians [“rossiyan”], and
the spiritual renewal of Russia.  The aim of these
publications will be to show Russia’s role and place in
the history of world civilization and world culture and
its influence on world society.”
111. “Scisle tajne:  KPZR o Polsce 1980-81,” Gazeta
wyborcza (Warsaw), 12-13 December 1992, 10-11;
and “Dokumenty Komisji Suslowa,” Rzeczpospolita
(Warsaw), 26 August 1993, 19-20.  See also the invalu-
able collection of transcripts of Polish Politburo meet-

ings from 1980-81: Zbigniew Wlodek, ed., Tajne
dokumenty Biura Politycznego: PZPR a “Solidarnosc,”
1980-1981 (London: Aneks, 1992).
112. For citations of some of the recently published
items, see my article on “Tactical Nuclear Weapons,
Soviet Command Authority, and the Cuban Missile
Crisis” in this issue of the CWIHP Bulletin.
113. The transcripts were published in four segments
under the general rubric “Iz Arkhiva Gorbacheva
(Besedy M. S. Gorbacheva s R. Reiganom v Reik’yavike
11-12 oktyabrya 1986 g.).”  See “Pervaya beseda
(pervonachal’no naedine) — utrom 11 oktyabrya 1986
g.,” Mirovaya ekonomika i mezhdunarodnye
otnosheniya (Moscow) 4 (April 1993), 79-90; “Vtoraya
beseda (dnem 11 oktyabrya 1986 g.),” Mirovaya
ekonomika i mezhdunarodnye otnosheniya  5 (May
1993), 81-90; “Tret’yaya beseda (utrom 12 oktyabrya
1986 g.),” Mirovaya ekonomika i mezhdunarodnye
otnosheniya  7 (July 1993), 88-104, and “Chetvertaya
beseda (dnem 12 oktyabrya 1986 g.),” Mirovaya
ekonomika i mezhdunarodnye otnosheniya 8 (August
1993), 68-78.
114. I use this metaphor here because it came up
repeatedly at the conference.  Unfortunately, as several
speakers discovered, there is no good translation of the
metaphor into Russian or other Slavic languages.
115. Zbigniew K. Brzezinski, The Soviet Bloc:  Unity
and Conflict, rev. ed. (Cambridge, Mass.:  Harvard
University Press, 1967).
116. Blair Worden, “Lyrical Historian,” The New York
Review of Books 40:13 (15 July 1993), 12.
117. The new study is Kathryn Weathersby, “Soviet
Aims in Korea and the Origins of the Korean War,
1945-1950: New Evidence from the Russian Archives,”
Cold War International History Project Working Paper
No. 8 (Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Interna-
tional Center for Scholars, November 1993).
Weathersby’s nuanced presentation by no means dis-
counts the importance of the dog’s own desire and
ability to wag its tail, but she gives greater emphasis to
the tail’s initiative.
118. See, e.g., the two-part interview with Korotkov in
Yonhap (Seoul), 22 and 23 June 1993, reproduced in
U.S. Foreign Broadcast Information Service, Central
Eurasia:  Daily Report, FBIS-SOV-93-118 and FBIS-
SOV-93-119, 22 and 23 June 1993, 11-12, 14, respec-
tively; and “Secrets of the Korean War:  Forty Years
Later, Evidence Points to Stalin’s Deep Involvement,”
U.S. News & World Report, 9 August 1993, 45-47.
Korotkov has prepared a book-length manuscript on the
topic entitled “Poslednyaya voina Generalissimo” (“The
Generalissimo’s Final War”).
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tor of European security studies at Brown University’s
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10.  John E. Mulligan, “’62 Crisis Could Have Been a
‘Disaster,’” Providence Journal, 22 January 1992, A-4.
See also Martin Tolchin, “U.S. Underestimated Soviet
Force in Cuba During ’62 Missile Crisis,” New York
Times, 15 January 1992, A-11; and Don Oberdorfer,
“Cuban Missile Crisis More Volatile Than Thought,”
Washington Post, 14 January 1992, A-1, A-16.
11.  For Garthoff’s cautious assessment, see his “The
Havana Conference on the Cuban Missile Crisis,” Cold
War International History Project Bulletin 1 (Spring
1992), 2-4.  Newhouse’s account was published in “A
Reporter at Large:  Socialism or Death,” The New
Yorker, 27 April 1992, 52 ff., esp. 69-71.
12.  Kim A. McDonald, “Cuba Said to Have Nuclear
Warheads During 1962 Crisis,” Chronicle of Higher
Education 38:21 (29 January 1992), A-9.
13.  Tad Szulc, “Cuba ’62:  A Brush with Armageddon,”
Washington Post Book World 22:46 (15 November
1992), 10.
14.  “The Missiles of October,” ABC News Special
Report, 16 October 1992, typescript, 38.  This program,
which gave pride of place to the tactical nuclear weap-
ons issue, was remarkable for how carelessly it dis-
cussed Soviet policy.  To cite but one example, Jennings
asserted early in the broadcast that until 1962 the Soviet
Union had “never before moved missiles capable of
delivering nuclear warheads outside its own borders”
(15).  In fact, the Soviet Union had shipped nuclear-
capable Frog and Scud missiles to the East European
members of the Warsaw Pact before 1962.
15.  George Ball, “Present After the Creation,” New
York Review of Books 39:24 (17 December 1992), 11.
16.  See, e.g., Stephen M. Meyer, Soviet Theatre Nuclear
Forces, Part II:  Capabilities and Implications, Adelphi
Paper 188 (London:  International Institute for Strategic
Studies, Winter 1983/4), 30-31.
17.  U.S. intelligence analysts discovered as early as 27
October 1962 that Frog delivery vehicles were present
in Cuba, but the presence of nuclear warheads for the
missiles was never confirmed.  See “Supplement 7 to
Joint Evaluation of Soviet Missile Threat in Cuba,”
prepared by the Guided Missile and Astronautics Intel-
ligence Committee, the Joint Atomic Energy Intelli-
gence Committee, and the National Photographic Inter-
pretation Center, 27 October 1962, 2; reproduced in
U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, CIA Documents on
the Cuban Missile Crisis 1962 (Springfield, VA:  Na-
tional Technical Information Service, October 1992),
325.  A recent book based on retrospective analyses of
U.S. aerial reconnaissance — Dino A. Brugioni, Eye-
ball to Eyeball:  The Inside Story of the Cuban Missile
Crisis (New York:  Random House, 1991), esp. 538-48
— indicates that nuclear warheads were present in
special vans at Mariel, but the implication is that these
warheads were exclusively for the SS-4s.  A recent
article by a senior Russian military officer claims that
102 tactical nuclear warheads were present in Cuba for
nearly two months in 1962, from 4 October until 1
December.  These allegedly included 12 warheads
slated for use on the “Frog” missiles, 80 warheads for
tactical cruise missiles, 6 gravity bombs, and 4 nuclear
naval mines.  See Lieut.-Colonel Anatolii Dukuchaev,
“100-dnevnyi yadernyi kruiz,” Krasnaya zvezda (Mos-
cow), 6 November 1992, 2.  In an interview with the
author (12 January 1993), Colonel Nikolai Beloborodov,
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[Ed. note: The previous issue of the CWIHP
Bulletin (Fall 1992, pp. 1, 13-19) contained
an English translation of a report (“Mili-
tary Planning of the Warsaw Pact: A Study”)
issued by the Defense Ministry of the Fed-
eral Republic of German analyzing materi-
als of the East German New People’s Army
which fell into West German hands after the
collapse of the German Democratic Repub-
lic in 1989-90.  Below is a response to that
report by a prominent (West) German
scholar, Dr. Gerhard Wettig of the
Bundesinstitut fuer ostwissenschaftliche und
internationale Studien in Cologne.  For a
recent detailed analysis of GDR military
documents pertaining to Warsaw Pact
nuclear operations, readers are also re-
ferred to the report of Lt. Col. Harald
Nielsen, The East German Armed Forces in
Warsaw Pact Nuclear Operations
(Ebenhausen, Germany: Wissenschaft und
Politik (SWP), Forschungsinstitut fuer
Internationale Politik und Sicherheit, July
1993); the report by Nielsen, an SWP con-
sultant, was prepared and translated into
English for the Sandia National Laborato-
ries (Livermore, CA  94551-0960 and Albu-
querque, NM 87185) through a contract
with Orion Research.]

WARSAW PACT PLANNING
IN CENTRAL EUROPE:  THE

CURRENT STAGE OF RESEARCH

by Gerhard Wettig

Issue 2 of the Cold War International
History Project Bulletin contained a transla-
tion of the German Defense Ministry report
on the above topic.  What was missing,
however, was a more detailed explanation
of what was precisely underlying the report.
As an analyst who has been working in the
field before the report came out, I feel that
the following context is worth noting:

1.     The report is official in character only
in the sense that the German Defense
Ministry has transmitted it to the public.
The  message it transmits reflects essen-
tially the perceptions of the military of-
ficer who wrote the report.

2.    The West German Bundeswehr did not
get hold of NVA [New People’s Army]
documents that revealed Warsaw Pact
military strategy directly.  All such mate-
rials had been removed before the

Bundeswehr entered the NVA premises.
As a result, the West Germans found evi-
dence but only on how the East German
military were instructed to perform in
military exercises, maneuvers, etc.  This
kind of material provides merely circum-
stantial evidence, i.e., it is a basis but for
indirect inferences.

3.    The German Defense Ministry report,
therefore, must be understood as contain-
ing inferences drawn by the author.  It is
conceivable that other analysts who saw
and evaluated the underlying source basis
might have drawn different inferences on
some points.

4.    If one compares the German Defense
Ministry report with Western, particu-
larly U.S., analyses of Warsaw Pact mili-
tary strategy published before 1989/90 on
the basis of the source material then avail-
able (which included, inter alia, confiden-
tial documents such as Soviet General
Staff Academy lectures1), a fundamental
difference emerges.  While the German
Defense Ministry report infers that the
Warsaw Pact’s plans for an immediate
and rapid military offensive against the
European defenses of NATO had envis-
aged early first use of nuclear weaponry
under any conditions, preceding Western
analyses had concluded that, at some date
in the late 1960s2 or early 1970s3, the
Soviet military leadership decided in fa-
vor of a non-nuclear blitzkrieg provided
that the Western enemy refrained from
using nuclear weapons.  The reason for
this change of mind was seen in the Soviet
military’s growing awareness that use of
nuclear weaponry would slow down rather
than speed up Warsaw Pact military ad-
vances to the shores of the North Atlantic.

5.       The kind of indirect evidence underlying
the German Defense Ministry report ap-
pears insufficient to make mandatory its
author’s inference that, in the event of
East-West war, the Warsaw Pact had a
definite intention to use nuclear weapons
first even if the Western side were ex-
pected to abstain from their use.  The
demonstrable fact that military prepara-
tions were made to initiate nuclear first
use in case that this contingency would
impose itself, does not necessarily imply
that nuclear first use was the preferred
course of military action.

Consequently, research on the role of nuclear

R E S P O N S E
weapons in Warsaw Pact offensive strategy
must continue.  Both the German Defense
Ministry material and documents originat-
ing from former Warsaw Pact countries other
than the GDR need further analysis on this
question.

Notes

1.  See The Voroshilov Lectures.  Materials from the
Soviet General Staff Academy.  Issues of Soviet Military
Strategy, edit by Graham Hall Turbiville, Jr., compiled
by Ghulam Dastagir Wardak, intro. by Raymond L.
Garthoff (Washington, D.C.:  National Defense Uni-
versity Press, vol. I: June 1989; vol. II: December
1990).  A number of U.S. analysts were able to use these
source materials (which represent the version of Soviet
military strategy lectured to non-Warsaw Pact atten-
dants of the Voroshilov General Staff Academy) many
years prior to publication.  In the meantime, the previ-
ously confidential Soviet General Staff journal Voennaya
mysl’ has also become available to research and offers
valuable insight.
2.  See Michael McGwire, Military Objectives in Soviet
Foreign Policy (Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institu-
tion, 1986), 28-29, 379-405.
3.  See Phillip A. Petersen and John G. Hines, “The
Conventional Offensive in Soviet Military Strategy,”
Orbis  27:3 (Fall 1983), 695-739; John G. Hines, Phillip
A. Petersen, and Notra Trulock III, “Soviet Military
th ba95  T
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questions, prepares the agenda and materials for
consideration by the National Security Council
under the chairmanship of the President (this
organ under Nixon began to work regularly,
meeting no more rarely than once or twice a
week).  As recognized by Nixon himself, at my
last meeting with him, Kissinger every week
“pesters” him (that is, meets with him) signifi-
cantly more often than any other aide.

Judging by my personal observations and
compared with, for example, the relation of Presi-
dent Johnson with his aide [Walt] Rostow, I can
say that Kissinger conducts himself much more
freely than his predecessors in the presence of the
President: one feels the certain confidence of a
man who has won for himself a solid position at
the White House (at the State Department they
say directly that if “Henry”—Kissinger’s first
name—speaks against that or some other pro-
posal, then Nixon will most probably reject it).

Kissinger himself, though he is a smart and
erudite person, is at the same time extremely vain
and in conversations with me, especially during a
private lunch (we have established a pretty good
personal relationship), not averse to boasting
about his influence.  During our last conversation
he, for example, without any excessive humility,
announced that in all of Washington “only two
people can answer precisely at any given moment
about the position of the USA on this or that
question: these are President Nixon and he,
Kissinger.”  Regarding this he suggested to me
that if it is necessary to precisely define some-
thing really important “for the correct under-
standing in Moscow of Nixon’s policy on a
concrete question,” I should quietly appeal di-
rectly to him.

I should say that he himself readily wel-
comes the Soviet Ambassador or visits us in the
Embassy for a private conversation immediately
following a request from our side.  He himself
often takes the initiative to arrange such meet-
ings.  Evidently, he also cites all this as a confi-
dential channel of communication with the So-
viet side in order to strengthen his own personal
position with Nixon.  In this connection I should
mention that Kissinger holds under his own per-
sonal control all communication of members of
his staff with our Embassy personnel, and sternly
requires that all such conversations are reported
directly to him, and if he considers it necessary,
that he himself report to the President.  Most
recently, his tendency to limit the number of such
communications and subsume them all into the
flow of his personal contacts with the Soviet
Ambassador has been noticeable.

Evidently, it would be expedient over time
to more and more actively develop and use the
channel with Kissinger in order to influence and
through him drive home directly to President
Nixon our points of view on various important
questions, especially in situations where a certain
delicacy is called for or where any sort of public-

ity is undesirable, which is often not possible to
achieve when acting through the State Depart-
ment.  It goes without saying that we will as
always have to handle routine and official mat-
ters, especially those where it is necessary to fix
our position, through ordinary diplomatic chan-
nels.  Secretary of State Rogers has noticeably
begun to gather strength and operate more ac-
tively in the area of American foreign policy,
leaning on the wide apparat of the State Depart-
ment and Foreign Service. And all the same, it is
necessary to take into account that Kissinger’s
influence on the formulation of Nixon’s foreign
policy course, judging by all our observations
and information in our possession, for now re-
mains commanding.

A. DOBRYNIN

(Source: SCCD, F. 5, Op. 61, D. 558, LI. 92-
105.)

Document Six:
Soviet Policy in Afghanistan, 1979:

A Grim Assessment

The following CPSU Central Committee
document, dated 1 April 1979 and signed by
Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko, Defense Min-
ister Dmitrii Ustinov, KGB chief Yurii Andropov,
and CC International Department head Boris
Ponomarev, provides a strikingly candid assess-
ment of the deteriorating situation in Afghanistan
that the Soviet Politburo confronted in spring
1979.  The report attributes the increasing suc-
cess of the Islamic opposition (i.e., the Afghan
Mujaheddin) to the “miscalculations and mis-
takes” of the PDPA (People’s Democratic Party
of Afghanistan) regime that seized power follow-
ing the April 1978 “revolution.”  The PDPA’s
draconian social measures and “unjustified re-
pression” are cited as key factors responsible for
the alienation of the army (“which still remains
the main basis for the regime”) and the general
populace.  The document reveals that the Soviet
leadership has earlier rebuffed a PDPA request
for direct military support in response to fighting
in the provincial city of Herat and correctly
predicts “the serious political consequences which
would have followed if the Soviet side had granted
their request....”

Nevertheless, despite these cautionary
words, seven months later the Soviet Govern-
ments did approve direct military intervention in
Afghanistan to enforce the continuation of com-
munist rule in Kabul.  (For a detailed analysis of
Soviet policy in Afghanistan in 1978-79, using
newly available CPSU CC materials, see the
forthcoming article by Odd Arne Westad of the
Norwegian Nobel Institute in the February 1994
issue of International History Review.)  Introduc-
tion by Robert S. Litwak, Woodrow Wilson Inter-

national Center for Scholars; translation by Loren
Utkin; document provided by Mark Kramer.

* * * * * *

[The report was found attached to the following
cover memorandum:]

Return within 3 days     Proletariat of the world
to the CC CPSS  unite!




























